FORAGING ECOLOGIES OF GIRAFFE AND CAMELS IN NORTHERN KENYA: EFFECTS OF HABITAT STRUCTURE AND POSSIBILITIES FOR COMPETITION?

By

David Andrew Fawcett O'Connor

A thesis submitted

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Master of Science (Natural Resources and Environment)

University of Michigan

December 2013

Thesis Committee:

Professor Johannes Foufopoulos, Chair

Professor Bilal Butt

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge and express deep gratitude to the School of Natural Resources and Environment, the Graham Environmental Sustainability Institute, the International Institute, the African Studies Center, the Department of Afroamerican and African Studies, Rackham Graduate School and the Explorer's Club for providing funding for my research, and basically making a lifelong dream of mine come true. This project would not have been possible without numerous friends and family members who helped, guided and put up with me along the way. This includes my lab mates, fellow MS students, fellow Mpala researchers, and my fellow adventurers Aimee Massey, Valerie Benka, Colin Donihue, Kayla Yurco and Walker DePuy. Your collective wisdom, guidance, support and inspiration helped me in countless ways, expanded my horizons and made me better. Special thanks also to Elisabeth Dion, Lindsay Scheidt and Kendall Effinger who played central roles in processing and analyzing data.

Central thanks goes to the Mpala research station team members I'm indebted to all of you for your teachings, and for providing the resources and logistics that allowed us to work safely. I am most indebted to my field colleague Jeremiah Long'or whose wise field craft made this research possible. I'm indebted to his flexibility and hard work, especially when mammalian observations required loooooong hours in the field, often staring at petulantly unmoving giraffe. Beyond that, I owe Jeremiah my life. While transecting far from our vehicle, his keen senses and anticipation allowed us at least three times to out-run elephant and buffalo charges. Thank you!

Thanks must also go to Johan du Toit, Truman Young, Adam Ford, Claudia Amphlett, Michael Stastny, Renee Peptipas, John Doherty, Rebecca Hardin, and Alison Brody for your generous sharing of expertise and guidance on study design and questions. More recent gratitude goes to James and Sharon Danoff-Burg thesis and analytics coaches extraordinaire! Heart-felt gratitude is also extended to my colleagues and employers at *National Geographic Magazine* and the *San Dieguito River Valley Conservancy*, without your support, flexibility and understanding, I couldn't have pulled this off.

This is where I wish I had attained higher grammatical levels, as thanks doesn't cut it, but huge thanks to my advisors Dr. Johannes Foufopoulos and Dr. Bilal Butt, first for your patience and willingness to work remotely with me through these latter stages, and delays (on my end). Your guidance, encouragement, wisdom, insights and expertise made the endeavor possible, I cannot thank you enough, I learned so much from you both. Your work is vital and meaningful in the advance of our knowledge, and in mentoring the next generation. Extra gratitude goes to Dr. Butt for his expertise and support in the field, and for the hook-up on GPS pouches!

Lastly, thanks to my love. I love you Christine, thank you for all your support, sacrifices, patience, good humor and fun. I am a very lucky man. You are the reason this happened. It's been a mad few years! Thanks also to my son Breas, you are my inspiration and source of smiles, and Kibibi, well you are the queen and you rock.

Asante Sana Rafikis!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	4
Introduction	5
Methods	8
Study Area	8
Behavioral Observations	9
Reticulated Giraffe Surveys & Observations	10
Camel Surveys & Observations	11
Camel GPS Collar	13
Vegetation Transects	13
GIS Analysis	14
Statistical Analysis	14
Results	15
Giraffe occurrence & feeding height categories	15
Camel occurrence & feeding height categories	16
Influence of habitat type and sex on adult giraffe foraging	16
Giraffe food plants	17
Paired giraffe feeding observations and plant transects	18
Camel browsing orbits	18
Camel food plants	19
Paired camel feeding observations and plant transects	19
Giraffe and camel feeding height comparison	19
Discussion	20
Literature Cited	28
Figures and Tables	34
Appendices	53

ABSTRACT

Domestic camels (*Camelus dromedarius*) have become increasingly popular livestock in arid regions of sub-Saharan Africa. However, little is known about the environmental impacts of these animals, and concern has been mounting about possible competition with wild native ungulates. Unlike the more traditional pastoralist livestock species, camels are large-bodied, long-necked browsers which increases the potential to overlap with wild giraffe foraging, especially as the space available for browsing decreases. Giraffe ecology and social dynamics are poorly understood; it is believed that reticulated giraffe (*Giraffa camelopardalis reticulata*) population is in decline, and the effects of introducing a new potential competitor could be an added stressor. This study examines the foraging ecologies of reticulated giraffe and domestic camels in the Laikipia District of Kenya, an area where these two species have not been sympatric until very recently.

Both wild giraffe and domestic camel foraging heights and food species were quantified using multi-metric observations. Using repeated two-minute group scans I recorded feeding height categories and plant food preferences. Transects were used to sample the vegetation in areas in which foraging observations were recorded.

The results indicate that domestic camels do not overlap with giraffe in feeding heights. Not only do camels feed below giraffe, the two species also do not overlap in plant food preferences. Giraffes do not exhibit sexual dichotomies in plant food preferences. However, giraffes do exhibit sexual dichotomy in foraging heights, with females feeding at lower elevations than males. Habitat type has an effect on foraging ecologies of both giraffe sexes, but it is most pronounced in males; in contrast, habitat did not influence camel foraging. Such differences may be driven by local habitat structure and plant densities rather than by differing preferences between camels and giraffe. In addition, camel herder husbandry techniques also influence the dynamics of camel foraging by determining where and for how long camels browsed. These results have implications for the conservation and management of both species and the wider ecosystem if the twin goals of wildlife conservation and livestock production are to be achieved.

Keywords: Reticulated giraffe, camel, foraging ecology, pastoralist, conservation, Laikipia, Kenya

INTRODUCTION

Eastern Africa's semi-arid ecosystems exhibit dynamic interactions between pastoralist cultures, wildlife, complex rainfall patterns and soil types (Kjekshus 1996). Within this region, the existing balance between the two most important habitats, grasslands and *Acacia* dominated bush/woodlands, is particularly shaped by the interactions between herbivorous livestock and wildlife.

The East African savanna biome includes about 46 extant free-ranging ungulate species (Owen-Smith and Cumming 1993), as well as three dominant livestock species: cattle (*Bos* spp.) goats (*Capra hircus*) and sheep (*Ovis aries*), the latter two often grouped under the umbrella term 'shoats'. African herbivores are typically categorized into a browsing and a grazing guild (du Toit 1995); within each guild coexisting species tend to have differing body sizes and feeding strategies (Woolnough & du Toit 2001). This in turn leads to a central question: how are shared food resources partitioned among coexisting species (Sinclair 1979, Butt & Turner 2012)?

Competition between different herbivores depends on numerous factors: population densities relative to available resources, as well as habitat and feeding preferences (Du Toit 1990). African ungulate guilds are thought to partition existing plant resources along temporal and spatial axes (McNaughton & Georgiadis 1986, du Toit 1990). Considering the spatial axis, browser species optimize their foraging to maximize nutritional and energetic intake by focusing their feeding on different heights of vegetation (Pellew 1984a, McNaughton & Georgiadis 1986, du Toit 1990, Cameron & du Toit 2007). Although there is clear stratification in feeding preferences, overlap does exist in the feeding heights of different species, especially among the medium- to small-sized ruminants, for example between kudu (*Trageluphus strepsiceros*), impala (*Aepyceros melumpus*), and steenbok (*Raphicerus campestris*) (du Toit 1990). Such overlap in resource usage sets the stage for possible competition for browse resources (see Prins and Fritz (2008) for a comprehensive list of ungulate feeding overlap examples).

Pastoralism livestock systems occur across much of the Eastern African savanna, with livestock herds often overlapping spatially with wild herbivores, and utilizing the same resources In areas where such livestock grazing occurs, it represents an added layer of pressure on the vegetation available for wild herbivores. Though still under investigation,

livestock feeding and husbandry could have significant knock-on effects on the functioning and structure of the savanna system, as well as on the availability of browse (Butt & Turner 2012). With varying degrees of habitat and dietary overlap between pastoralist livestock and wildlife (Odadi *et al.* 2007), it has long been assumed that competition for food resources exists between livestock and wildlife (Prins 1992, Voeten and Prins 1999, Averbeck *et al.* 2009, Butt 2010). However such views may be overly simplistic, with the interactive effects between wildlife and livestock being more complex, and ranging from facilitative to competitive between the two groups (Odadi *et al.* 2011, Butt & Turner 2012), and well as on vegetation (Du Toit & Cummings 1999).

However, a species that exists alongside pastoralists and wild ungulates - the giraffe – has long been thought to escape such resource overlap with either wildlife or livestock (Ciofolo & Le Pendu 2002). This is primarily due to giraffe's capacity to feed on vegetation out of reach of other ruminants, and its ability to travel long distances in search of forage (du Toit 1990, Young & Isbell 1991, Bond & Loffell 2001, Woolnough & du Toit 2001, Parker & Bernard 2005).

Researchers have referred to giraffe as the "Forgotten Megafauna", and until very recently they have been surprisingly understudied when compared to other African savanna species according to the Giraffe Conservation Foundation (Tutchings *et al.* 2013). Giraffe physiology is comparatively well understood, many other questions around giraffe ecology are still debated, including herd and social interactions, its effect on its habitat, foraging dynamics, etc. Even giraffe phylogeny and taxonomy are only now becoming clarified (Brown *et al.* 2007), with consensus growing that there are 9 extant giraffe subspecies (Seeber *et al.* 2012, GCF 2013).

Getting a better understanding of giraffe ecology is ever more important as many of the subspecies are experiencing sharp declines as a result of increased hunting pressures, habitat loss and changing cultural practices (Seeber *et al.* 2012). For example, the reticulated giraffe's (*Giraffa camelopardalis reticulata*) estimated wild population has declined sharply over the past 15 years from 28,000 to about 5,000 today (GCF 2013, Tutchings *et al.* 2013).

Pastoralist herders try to manage their livestock in accord with prevailing environmental conditions (Ellis and Galvin 1994, Galvin 1992, Galvin *et al.* 1994). When

other social, economic and zoonotic risks are added, pastoralists must balance their herd sizes, composition, and grazing patterns in response to these pressures to remain profitable (Homewood 2008). Although climatic analyses foresee differential impacts of climate change in East Africa, the models predict that regions of Eastern Africa are likely to experience long-term increases in temperatures, and some areas will be drier, while others will experience greater rainfall, occurring in heavier, more unpredictable events. (Bates *et al.* 2008, McSweeney *et al.* 2008, Thornton *et al.* 2002).

Droughts represent a particularly serious challenge to African pastoralists (Butt 2010a, Davies and Bennett 2007, Kiage 2013). One way pastoralists have dealt with increased aridity is to change herd composition, away from traditionally cattle-dominated groups to including more, or completely switching, to shoats or even camels. Domestic camels (*Camelus dromedarius*) are more drought-tolerant than cattle, performing well in adverse conditions, and have lower energy requirements (Faird 1995, Maloiy *et al.* 2009).

Such changes in herd composition can have important implications for overall livestock productivity, animal nutritional requirements, as well as milk production (Little *et al.* 2008, Ericksen *et al.* 2013). Milk is often the prime source of income for pastoralists. While camels are more expensive to acquire initially, they have the potential to generate more income through the production of more, and higher priced, milk relative to other East African livestock taxa (Baars 2000). In addition, they produce well in both wet and dry seasons, yielding more milk than cattle, especially over the dry season (Bekele *et al.* 2002).

Like giraffe, camel foraging is little studied, especially compared to other livestock species (Dereje & Uden 2005). Few studies exist currently on the effects of introduced camels on ecosystem function and the resident herbivore communities. Camel browsing may affect forage availability, vegetation composition or structure. One particularly important relationship could exist between domestic camels and reticulated giraffe. Both are large ungulate browsers, with the ability to feed across a large vertical spectrum, and camels can stretch into higher vegetation zones than other livestock, thus reaching into giraffe feeding levels.

This research explores the foraging preferences of domestic camels and wild reticulated giraffe. Using field observations of both species and by gathering multi-metric vegetation and spatial data, we investigate the following questions:

i) Is there overlap between camel and giraffe feeding heights and preferred plant food species?

ii) Are there differences between adult female and adult male giraffe foraging ecologies across habitat types?

iii) Do giraffe exploit their presumed competitive advantage by always eating the tallest and most common plant species in the landscape?

METHODS

Study Area

In order to collect data on co-existing giraffe and camel in an East African savanna setting, this research was conducted at the Mpala Research Centre (MRC) in Laikipia Province (north central Kenya). Situated at elevations between 1,700-2,000m asl, MRC encompasses 19,873 ha of savanna and dry woodland habitats and contains diverse, abundant wildlife commnities that includes 22 species of native wild mammalian herbivores (Goheen *et al.* 2013). Herds of cattle and shoats are also kept at Mpala in a quasi-pastoralist fashion, with livestock herded during the day, and returning each evening to *bomas* (temporary animal enclosures built either of cut acacia branches or of mobile metal fencing).

Camel herding is increasing in popularity as are camel stocking levels in Laikipia (Kinnaird and O'Brien *pers. comm.*, Kinnaird & O'Brien 2012), encouraged by the establishment of a camel milk processing facility in the area, providing a local outlet for camel products. Recently, camels started to be stocked at Mpala, providing the opportunity to compare camel and giraffe foraging ecologies. These camels are kept in largely sexually segregated herds, composed either of all-male animals or of majority female and immature young, with a handful of mature bulls.

Because of its location within the rainshadow of Mount Kenya Mpala receives only 640 mm of rain annually. There is a pronounced north to south increase of rainfall across Mpala resulting in more luxuriant vegetation in the southern sector (Goheen *et al.* 2013). Adding to this, Mpala contains two different soil types that result in two strikingly different vegetation types and structure (see Figures 1 & 2).

Western Mpala is composed of topographically flat, "black cotton" vertisol (clay) soils, resulting in an open, low diversity savanna dotted by small trees. Tree communities are dominated by ant-acacia (*Acacia drepanolobium*), which accounts for more than 97% of the overstory cover, while ground cover is composed to 90% of only five grass species and two forbs (Young *et al.* 1997, 1998). This low vegetation diversity is in part caused by the extreme shrink-swell movements of black cotton clays, that destroy the roots of most plant species (Pringle *et al.* 2010).

Eastern and northern Mpala is composed of infertile red sandy loams (alfisols; locally termed 'red soil'). This soil type supports a diverse, structurally variable bushland habitat with a patchy understory of perennial grasses and a canopy cover dominated by prickly thorn (*Acacia brevispica*), wait-a-bit thorn (*Acacia mellifera*), and mgunga (*Acacia etbaica*) (Augustine & McNaughton. 2004, Kinnaird & O'Brien 2012).

Between the black cotton and red soil areas is a transition zone, which supports a savanna dominated by perennial grasses with widely spaced trees and shrubs (Kinnaird & O'Brien 2012) and which includes species from both the black cotton and red soil habitats. These three soil types produce vegetation types that are very different in species richness, and result in distinct habitat structures, allowing for comparison in herbivore foraging ecology across these three 'zones'.

Field data were gathered between May and August 2011. Appendix 1 summarizes the methods relied upon to collect data for each of the research questions

Behavioral Observations

In order to determine overlap in feeding height and plant food species preferences between giraffe and camels, geo-located behavioral observations were used to record frequency of feeding at different height categories, as well as the frequency of feeding on different plant species.

Reticulated Giraffe Surveys & Observations

Mpala was divided into six sectors to allow for even distribution of sampling effort and timing (Figure 3). Giraffe were surveyed in the 6:30am -11:00am period and again from 3:00pm to sunset, to avoid the heat of the day when the animals are least active. Observations were vehicle-based for safety, and because giraffe were generally more accustomed the vehicles.

Once a giraffe, or group of giraffe, were encountered the vehicle was pulled to the side of the track, and the engine switched off. The number and sex of visible giraffe were recorded (Figure 4), and a group of giraffe was defined as any giraffe within 100m of others (Shorrocks & Croft 2009). Giraffe separated by more than 100m, were considered to be individuals, or part of a separate group. Other visible ungulate species were also counted and recorded [except dik-dik (*Madoqua kirkii*) which were presumed not to interact with giraffe].

To place each encounter in space, a GPS waypoint was taken using a hand held GPS unit (Garmin etrex VistaTM). The distance to the most central giraffe in the group was measured by a laser rangefinder (Nikon Prostaff 550), and the bearing angle to the most central giraffe was also taken using a handheld compass (Brunton Classic). This allowed for exact positioning of the giraffe in the landscape using GIS trigonometry functions (Figure 5). Likewise, the distance and angle to other species present were also noted, to record their exact positions relative to giraffe. When the encounter ended (and a new waypoint taken if the vehicle was moved during observations), the distance to the animal's last location and the corresponding compass bearing were also recorded. This allowed for a later vectoring using GIS, of the giraffe group's browsing movement through the landscape.

Because of the fission-fusion nature of giraffe groups (Bercovitch & Berry 2013), the size of each giraffe group was determined in the evening, and was based on the size of the group at its most numerous.

Giraffe in this region are comparatively more vigilant and skittish (Kinnaird pers.comm.), making observation challenging. As such, all behavioral observations were vehicle-based to minimize disturbance to the animals. Giraffe observations were made

through Nikon binoculars using 2-minute group scans (Altmann 1974, Bøving & Post 1997, Hamel & Cote 2008, Treydtea et al. 2011). Group instantaneous scan sampling was chosen over focal animal observations, because initial field testing revealed that the presence of dense bushes prevented sustained following of an individual. However, for cases of solitary animals, or for smaller groups where individual giraffe could be tracked with confidence, the same group scan method was still used, but observations were coded to identify individual giraffe.

The same observer (DOC) made all observations. The observation logistics and data recorded are detailed in Figure 6. Although observations were spread across all of MRC to avoid recording an individual more than once, this possibility cannot be excluded with confidence, as giraffes could not be marked individually.

To quantify giraffe feeding heights, four feeding height categories were assigned based on the angle subtended between the neck and forelegs (Figure 7): feed high 180°, feed medium 135°, feed level 90°, and feed below 45° (see du Toit 1990). Actual measurements of each of these height categories were made on focal male and female adult giraffe feeding heights on plants in the field (du Toit *pers. comm.*). After recording a clearly visible giraffe feeding at one of the neck angle categories on a plant, the same plant was visited after the giraffe's departure and the corresponding bite mark located located (previously recorded with a camera). The height of the bite mark above ground level was then measured using wooden poles marked in 50cm increments. Thus the height of feeding represented by each neck angle categories were measured. To ensure an accurate representation, each of the four neck angle categories were measured for approximately 15 giraffe of each of the sexes.

While feeding and behavioral data were recorded for juvenile giraffe, they are not part of this study since they are still growing, and thus their feeding heights are hard quantify. Only adult giraffe data were used for statistical analyses.

Camel Surveys & Observations

All foraging observations on camel were taken from the same herd of animals. The herd consisted almost exclusively of females, and all observations reported here were made on adult female camels. While male giraffes are slightly larger than females, these data also provide broad insights on male foraging behaviors.

Camel observations were made on foot on 5 days spread over the study period, with the observer (DOC) walking with the herders across the landscape. Observations were spread over the whole course of the day while camels were foraging across the savanna. The observer tracked his own movements throughout the day via GPS.

As with giraffe, camel observations were collected via two-minute long group scans (Altmann 1974, Bøving & Post 1997, Hamel & Cote 2008, Treydtea *et al.* 2011). These were conducted during 1h long sessions, at the end of which a break was taken to avoid observer fatigue. At the beginning and end of each of the hour-long observation periods, a GPS waypoint was taken. This allowed for vectoring of the movement of the camel herd during the observation periods, as was done with the giraffe encounters. However, since the observer walked within the camel herd the waypoint was not adjusted with GIS.

For each two-minute group scans, observations were recorded of the first twenty adult camels seen, though after the first three days of observations, this number was reduced to 15 camels, due to the difficulty of recording 20 camels at a time when they were spread out and foraging. This was the maximum number of camels from which behavior could be recorded during each two-minute group scan. Observations were not made during periods of active herding, when the herders were pushing the herd onward to new areas or back to the boma.

To record camel activity budgets (see Appendix 4), during each scan we recorded the following behavioral categories: standing, walking, running, laying, aggression (visibly engaged in fighting), and feeding. In a similar fashion to giraffe, to gather foraging data, we recorded the feeding height category, as well as the species of plant being fed upon. The feeding height categories are based on the angle subtended between the neck and forelegs (Figure 8): feed high 135°, feed level 90°, feed below 45° and feed ground (grazing).

To measure the height of each of the feeding height categories, I measuredwere made of 15 adult female camel heads when held at the body level approximately at middle of each category (head held high, shoulder-level and knee-level) while in the boma (du Toit *pers. comm.*).

Camel GPS Collar

In order to record camel foraging movements over the course of the day, I employed a similar methodology that has been used for pastoralist livestock tracking (Butt *et al.* 2009, Butt 2010a,b). A GPS (Garmin Forerunner 301TM), at its default settings was attached to an adult female camel's neck. The unit's stopwatch function (time and distance) was set to track the camel's movements while foraging in the bush (Figure 9). A small plastic cover, taped over the start/stop button prevented the unit from switching off during the day. The GPS unit was attached before an animal left the boma in the morning and was then collected after it returned to the boma in the evening.

Initially the GPS unit was attached using a rope, but this set-up was modified, so that the GPS unit was enclosed in a Ziploc bag and placed into a protective canvas pouch attached around the camel's neck with a canvas leash (Butt *pers.comm.*, Butt *et al.* 2009, Butt 2010a,b). After a unit was attached in the boma, we observed the camel's interactions with the rest of the herd to evaluate possible effects of the unit on animal behavior and social effects. These observations revealed that after some initial curiosity from other camels, and as the unit absorbed the smell of the herd over time, there was little, to no, additional attention by other animals. The unit did not cause distress or impede movements or feeding of the camel to which it was attached.

For those few situations where the camel GPS collar had to be affixed or removed from the animal while the animal was enclosed and resting in the boma, the GPS data were edited to the time the animal actually departed from, and returned to, the boma.

All methods used were conducted in full accordance with the relevant institutional animal care guidelines (University of Michigan UCUCA permit 10553-1).

Vegetation Transects

To measure how giraffe and camel foraging and feeding heights related to the vertical structure and relative density of plant species in the landscape, 33 multi-metric vegetation transects were conducted along observed browsing paths of giraffe and camels (Figure 10). Point-centered quarter method samples were taken at every 25m along a transect line (Pellew 1983, Young and Isabell 1991, Cornelissen *et al.* 2003, Mitchell 2010). At each

of the point-centered quarter sample points, the landscape was divided into four quarters by the crossing perpendicular east-west and north-south compass lines. Within each of the quarters, the distance to the branch end of the nearest woody plant taller than 0.8m was measured using a 100m tape measure. The height of the plant was also measured to the end of its highest branch using a fiberglass telescoping tree measurement pole.

To ensure sampling power, each transect had a minimum length of 250m. In more open habitat where shrubs were separated by long distances, some transects had to be longer (to a maximum of 500m) to avoid double-counting the same plant in subsequent point-centered samples. Regardless of total length, there were 10 point-centered samples per transects. Using the previously gathered GPS and distance data, these transects lines followed the direction of movement (vector) of an encounter of a giraffe or camel group from which feeding was observed. The close proximity allows for sampling of vegetation and structure of the habitat the animals were browsing in, and enabled the pairing of these feeding observations to vegetation structure.

In addition, at these 25m intervals, percent ground cover was estimated using a $1m^2$ quadrat frame. Every 50m along the transect line bush density was categorized using a Bitterlich stick (Grosenbaugh 1952, Sundaresan *et al.* 2008). This method involves counting the number of bushes wider than the arc subtended by a 10 cm rectangle held 1m away from the eyes.

Only plants that were alive were measured. This included damaged or elephantpushed over plants that were still alive.

GIS Analysis

All GPS data were imported into ArcGIS 10 using Garmin BaseCamp. Giraffe encounter waypoints were moved/projected in ArcGIS using the distance and angle data to the actual position of the giraffe in the landscape.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were completed using both R and R Commander software (R Foundation for Statistical Computing), after first being organized in Microsoft Excel. Data were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test for normality. Where data

were normal or could be successfully transformed (using standard methods such as logarithmic or square root transformations), parametric tests were used. Non-parametric tests were used for non-normal data (e.g. plant heights, un-pooled feeding heights).

For comparison of feeding heights within and between species, the possibility of nonindependence of observations was minimized by pooling and then averaging each animal's feeding height data over the observation period. This would result in an averaged feed height measure for each animal. For encounters with large herds, where observations were not tracked to individuals - the aforementioned 'animals' may not have been the same individual, and in such cases they were categorized as composite animals (Appendix 3).

To examine the foraging overlap between camel and giraffe, un-averaged feeding height data were used to analyze the feeding heights of camels and giraffe on plant species (Tables 4,7). As such, those results should be interpreted with caution due to the possibility that the data aren't independent.

The feeding heights of camels and giraffe on plant species were analyzed using Mann-Whitney U tests. Multiway ANOVAs and Tukey's HSD pairwise comparisons were used to determine the influence of habitat type and sex on the feeding heights of giraffe, using summarized data. Linear regression analyses were used to investigate paired giraffe browsing vectors and vegetation structure (Appendix 1).

RESULTS

Giraffe occurrence & feeding height categories

A total of 657 giraffe^{*} were seen during the study period of 30 days, with behavioral observations made on 563 giraffe^{*} across 85 encounters. Over 290 hours, 8,696 observation points were recorded for giraffe (a point being a single observation from the two-minute group scans). Feeding height data were recorded for 337 adult giraffe (Appendix 2). Note however that these may not all be unique individuals, as a given giraffe may have been repeatedly sighted on different days.

This number may include some repeat encounters with the same giraffe on different days

Table 1 (see also Figure 7) shows the results of the giraffe feeding category measurements, with feeding height observation being categorized as either feeding high, feeding medium, feeding level or feeding below.

Camel occurrence & feeding height categories

Camel herd size varied between 62 and 78 individuals over the study period. Our survey produced 10,324 observation points, of which 7,340 were feeding data (Appendix 4).

Table 2 (Figure 8) shows the results of the domestic camel feeding category measurements, and each feeding height observation was categorized as either feeding high, feeding level, feeding below or feeding ground.

Influence of habitat type and sex on adult giraffe foraging

Based on data from 337 adult giraffe with averaged feeding height observations (Appendix 3), giraffe exhibit a significant difference in feeding heights between males and females, with males feeding on average at 3.7m while females feed at 2.5m (ANOVA $F_{1,331} = 254.7$, p<0.001). To determine whether this trend remained the same across all three habitat types, and to account for differing vegetation structure biasing this result, average male and female feeding heights were compared separately for each of the three habitat types (Table 3, Figure 11). Indeed, for each of the three habitat types, adult male average feeding heights were significantly higher than adult female (Black Cotton: ANOVA $F_{1,51} = 48.0$, p<0.001; Red Soil: ANOVA $F_{1,199} = 135.3$, p<0.001; Transition Soil: ANOVA $F_{1,81} = 102.1$, p<0.001).

Average adult giraffe feeding heights were compared between habitat types. Habitat had a significant effect on feeding (ANOVA $F_{2,331} = 90.3$, p<0.001). The median heights of vegetation in each habitat (Table 3) were significantly different (Kruskal-Wallis H = 79.6, p-value <0.001).

Adult males exhibited significant differences in their average feeding heights across all three habitat types (ANOVA $F_{2,151}$ = 44.8, p<0.001). Adult females also showed the same significant differences (ANOVA $F_{2,180}$ = 46.9, p<0.001), however Tukey's HSD revealed that there was not a significant difference between adult female feeding heights

in the black cotton and red soil habitats (p=0.09), but that they were significantly lower in transition soil (p<0.001) (Figure 11).

Giraffe food plants

Adult giraffe observations of feeding height and plant species are summarized in Table 4. Adult giraffe fed on 8 identified plant species across Mpala, whereas plant transects recorded 15 species of woody plants (Appendix 5).

The four food plant species with the most feeding observations (*Acacia mellifera*, *A*. *drepanolobium*, *A. etbaica* and *Boscia albitrunca*) were selected for further analysis, as the sample sizes for the other species were too small to obtain sufficient statistical power. The average heights and absolute density of the four plant species were summarized by habitat type (Table 5). Giraffe feeding heights on those four species, and the average heights of the plants as determined from the vegetation transects are shown in Figure 12. Male giraffe consistently feed significantly above the median height of the plant for *A*. *drepanolobium* (Mann-Whitney U, U = 17371, p<0.001), but not significantly so for *A*. *etbaica* (p=0.1) or *Boscia albitrunca* (p=0.052).

In contrast, female giraffe with the exception of *Boscia albitrunca*, feed below the median height of a tree. Thus, female giraffe feed significantly below the median heights of *A. drepanolobium* (Mann-Whitney U, U = 106765.5, p<0.001) and *A. etbaica* (U = 20153, p<0.001), but not for *Boscia albitrunca* (p=0.4).

Only *Acacia mellifera* was found in all three habitat types, and showed a significant difference in its median height across habitats (Kruskal-Wallis H = 20.4, p-value <0.001). The strongest difference was between the red soil and transition soil (p-value <0.001), followed by black cotton and red soil (p-value <0.01), whereas the differences between plant heights in black cotton and transition soil were not significant (p-value = 0.3).

Overall giraffe feed at a height different to the median height of *Acacia mellifera* (Mann-Whitney U, U = 212797.5, p < 0.05). Females feed significantly lower (Mann-Whitney U, U = 164377, p<0.001), while males feed significantly higher (Mann-Whitney U, U = 48420.5, p<0.001) than the median height of the plant.

The situation may be more nuanced though, especially for females in different habitat types (Figure 13). In the black cotton soil, females do not feed higher than the median

and mean height of the plant (Mann-Whitney U, U = 224, p=0.09), but there is a small sample size here (plant height n=15, feeding height observations n=45). In the red soils females feed significantly above the median plant height, but the height difference is small (Mann-Whitney U, U = 16593, p<0.001). While in the transition soils, females feed significantly below the height of the plant (Mann-Whitney U, U = 46101.5, p<0.01). Males on the other hand feed significantly higher than *Acacia mellifera*'s median height in all habitats (Black Cotton: U = 10; Red Soil: U = 13837; Transition Soil: U = 8807, all p<0.001).

Paired Giraffe feeding observations and plant transects

The data from the plant transects (n=28) that traced the direction of movement (vector) of observed giraffe feeding groups, enabled the pairing of feeding observations to vegetation structure (Figure 10). The overall average height of the plants measured in each transect was calculated, as was the overall average feeding height for the observed giraffe group. The relationship between plant height and feeding height was further explored using linear regression (r^2 = 0.3516, p<0.001), and overall plant height showed a significant influence on average giraffe feeding heights (Figure 14).

Camel browsing orbits

Tracks of both the camel GPS collars and the human observer can be seen in Figure 15. The tracks of the human observer were used in instances when a camel GPS collar failed, as a proxy to the herd's movement. Camels browsed in both the red soil and transitional soil, travelling a straight line distance up to 2.2km from the boma.

A circle drawn around the furthest extent of the camel's browsing orbits (white circle in Figures 1 & 15), encompasses an area of 1,004 hectares. Using just the GPS collar data, and discarding the browsing orbits with only partial GPS recordings, the average camel orbit is 6km over 7h 31mins (n = 9, see Table 6 details).

Camel food plants

Observations of feeding height and plant species consumed adult female camel are summarized in Table 7. Recordings of feeding at ground level were removed for analysis of feeding height levels due to their zero height value. Camels fed on 7 identified species. Categories denoted as "*Acacia* spp." and "*Euclea* spp." were not identified to plant species level. Mean plant heights for each plant category are given in Table 7.

The four most frequently fed upon plant species were analyzed further. Camels fed significantly below the heights of *A. brevispica* (Mann-Whitney U, U = 462318, p<0.001), *A. mellifera* (U = 80223, p<0.001), *A. etbaica* (U = 16005, p<0.001), and *B. albitrunca* (U = 4525, p<0.001).

Paired camel feeding observations and plant transects

Using a similar approach as was used for giraffe, we paired camel feeding observations to vegetation structure by using the plant transects (n=5) that traced the camel browsing vector tracks (n=5) (Figure 10). Although a small sample size, we found no significant relationship between plant height and camel feeding height (r^2 = 0.3601, p=0.3). Overall plant height did not appear to influence average camel feeding heights, unlike the case for giraffe. Instead the heights of the plants fed upon by camels closely matched the heights of the same species measured across Mpala. However the density of the plant species in the area in which the camels fed differ to the densities of these species across Mpala (Table 8). In the areas where camels browsed, *A. brevispica* was much more dense, while the other three species were less dense when compared to the rest of Mpala.

Giraffe and Camel feeding height comparison

Average feeding height data were compared between giraffe (n=337, individual average feed height $\bar{x} = 3.0$ m) and camels (n=340, individual average feed height $\bar{x} = 1.36$ m). Camels fed significantly lower than giraffe (Mann-Whitney U, U = 2567, p<0.001) (Figure 16). The difference remained significant (U = 2538.5, p<0.001) even

after the giraffe observations from black cotton habitat were removed (giraffe n=284, median individual average feed height = 2.93m).

When camel feed heights were separately compared to male (n=129) and to female giraffe feeding heights (n=155), camels still feed significantly lower than male giraffe (U = 34.5, p<0.001) as well as significantly lower than female giraffe (U = 2504, p<0.001) (Figure 17).

To investigate whether differing habitat structure might explain these differences, the plant transects taken along giraffe browsing paths (transect n=22, plant n=968) from red soil and transition soil habitat were compared to the plant transects taken along camel browsing vectors (transect n=5, plant n=220). The median height of the vegetation along camel browsing vectors ($\theta = 1.75m$) was significantly lower than for giraffe browsing paths ($\theta = 2.18m$) using Mann-Whitney U (U = 81296.5, p<0.001).

DISCUSSION

This study investigated (i.) whether there is overlap between camel and giraffe feeding heights and preferred plant food species, (ii.) whether there are differences between female and male giraffe foraging ecologies across habitat types; and lastly, it explored (iii.) whether giraffe exploit a competitive advantage by always eating the tallest and most common plant species in the landscape.

Camel and giraffe foraging overlap

The results of this investigation find that there is no direct overlap in the feeding heights of adult female camels and adult giraffe of either sex (Figures 16 & 17). This lack of overlap remains even after the exclusion of either (i.) camel ground level feeding data, or (ii.) giraffe black cotton habitat observations.

Giraffe and camel do overlap in their consumption of six plant species. However, of the four most frequent species eaten by each, overlap only occurs with *A. mellifera* (Tables 4 & 7). *A. mellifera* makes up 44% of a giraffe's foraging compared to 6% of a camel's (Appendix 2 & 4). Using frequency as an indicator of preference, giraffe and

camel prefer two very different plant palettes, with feeding further concentrated at different heights.

A second explanation for the observed differences in giraffe and camel food preferences is that vegetation densities are different at the particular locations where camels foraged compared to the broader Mpala landscape where giraffe foraged (Table 8). The overall height of vegetation that camels fed upon was significantly lower than the height of vegetation fed on by giraffe. The relative and absolute densities of plant species in the areas in which camels were feeding also differed to densities of plants in areas where giraffe were feeding. As such vegetation structure may be driving the dynamics of camel foraging could explain the observed differences in preference between camels and giraffe rather than preference.

Even so, earlier research from Ethiopia has shown similar camel plant food preference results to those we found at Mpala. They found that during the wet season *Acacia brevispica* is the camel's favorite food item (22% of diet), while *A. mellifera* is less favored (8%), and *Boscia* spp. (< 1%) is rarely eaten (Dereje & Uden 2005). This mirrors our results that show camels favor *Acacia brevispica*, making up 50% of their diet, while *A. mellifera* accounts for only 6% and *Boscia albitrunca* is less than 1% (Appendix 4). Therefore the camel food plant species preferences in these results could be widespread across camels in general, and not a peculiarity of the plant densities in which the camels were feeding at Mpala.

Human management practices dictate a large part of the foraging dynamics of camels (Dereje and Uden 2005, Gallacher and Hill 2005, Farah *et.al.* 2004) through the selection of the enclosure location and movement schedule. Camel bomas are relocated periodically once the surrounding vegetation is deemed to be exhausted by livestock managers. If a boma is moved to a location with vastly different habitat structure in order to accommodate foraging needs, then that may alter the camels foraging ecology. Examining the foraging response of camels to a changed boma location could shed light on whether camel's preferences are hardwired or whether the animals are just responding to the vegetation structure and densities of their habitat.

A further factor in which husbandry may affect foraging patterns is through the provision of supplemental feeding. If camels receive supplemental feed such as salt,

molasses, etc. this potentially could affect the types of plants and nutrients they are seeking (Nyariki *pers. comm.*).

Foraging by camels has been shown to impact both plant species diversity and community composition (El-Keblawy *et al.* 2009), and when stocked heavily, camels can drive a shift from *Acacia* savanna to low dwarf scrub (Gallacher and Hill 2006). How the plant community at Mpala will respond to recently introduced camel browsing is unknown, as is the extent of any knock-on effects on giraffe and other wild herbivore communities.

Interest is growing among pastoralist communities to raise camels as livestock to diversify and hedge their herds against uncertainties, to adapt to changing rangeland ecology and to maximize livestock production (Desta and Coppock 2000, Kinnaird and O'Brien *pers. comm.*, Young et al. 2013). For instance, camels are the best animals for milk production under the pastoral conditions in southern Ethiopia (Megersa *et al.* 2008). As such, herd composition could shift gradually from cattle and shoats to just camels or camels and shoats, resulting in an increase in camel populations. Understanding the effects of increased camel populations on arid rangelands is a prerequisite for effective management, as well as for continued sustainable livestock-wildlife interactions (Retzer, 2006).

Comparing camel browsing orbits to cattle grazing orbits provides an alternative explanation for differences between cattle and camel foraging. Cattle grazing orbits last about 11 hours covering 8-11km, covering a straight-line distance of between 2.8-4.6km (Butt 2010b) from the boma. Camels traveled only 2.2km from the boma, covering an average distance of 6km and browsing for 7.5 hours. Such differences in cattle and camel orbit footprints, could have differential impacts the wildlife and environment in which these livestock are herded.

While no direct evidence was found for overlap in camels and giraffe, there are a number of additional and complicating factors that need to be considered to better understand the drivers of feeding heights and plant food preferences for both species, and how preferences change under different habitat structures. In addition, there are a number of potential temporal overlaps such as the herbivore pressure of the camel's lower

feeding level on the ability of vegetation to grow into the feeding heights of giraffe that were not examined and are hard to predict.

Understanding the interactions between browsing camels, their environment, giraffe and other wild ungulate populations is important in order to identify areas of competition for shared resources. This is a prerequisite in order to develop strategies that allow for continued co-existence of the two species, as well as to improve camel production. Browse plants are an important resource and must be managed effectively both for camel, as well as for giraffe and other wild ungulate consumption. Understanding these tradeoffs is particularly critical today as many wildlife populations are in decline (GCF, 2013), and the impacts of large herbivores on this ecosystem are complex and counterintuitive (Pringle *et al.* 2011).

Female and male adult giraffe foraging patterns and plant food preferences

The clearest difference between male and female foraging heights is that females feed on average 1.2m lower than males. The difference is greater than what would be expected based the females' smaller body size (a consistent 0.6m lower in each feeding category). This indicates that giraffe sexes diverge in their foraging heights, perhaps to avoid intraspecific competition, and more so than what body size differences would indicate. This indicates that males consistently feed at higher feeding levels, or, given that males can only stretch so much, that females feed lower that is expected for their height.

The general pattern of females feeding disproportionately lower than males is well documented in giraffe (du Toit 1990, Ciofolo & Le Pendu 2002). Furthermore, for the three most frequently eaten plant species (*A. drepanolobium*, *A. etbaica*, and *A. mellifera*), males feed higher than the average plant heights, while females feed below the average plant heights, with the most pronounced difference seen on *A. drepanolobium*. However this result may be caused in part by female proclivity for feeding on *A. drepanolobium* plants found in the 'low drep' areas of transition soil, where the plants growth is stunted (Kinnaird *pers. comm.*). In contrast males foraged more frequently in the 'high drep' black cotton habitat where *A. drepanolobium* grows to 5+ meters (Young and Okello 1998).

Habitat type has a stronger influence on male rather than female feeding heights. With females feeding lower in the canopy, they are less strongly affected by fluctuating habitat structures across the landscape, whereas males, feeding above the canopy level are driven up and down as the plant heights change.

While it is not clear whether it is habitat structure or preference that explain male giraffe feeding heights. Females do seem to exhibit preferences for lower foraging. As indicated by the foraging patterns on *A. mellifera*. Thus across all habitat types male giraffe followed a familiar pattern of consistently feeding high, while females showed a more nuanced approach altering their feeding heights across habitat types and average plants heights. Such complexity also indicates that, at least below the very highest feeding levels, female's shorter neck and smaller body size is not the primary cause of these differences.

No consensus exists currently on the reason for these inter-sex feeding height differences. Several theories have been put forth to try to explain the differences between male and female giraffe foraging including inter-sex body size differences, males striving to access the nutritious browse found in plant higher parts, and males driven to the higher parts of the plants by competitive browsing from below by females or from other species (du Toit 1990, Ginnet & Demment 1997, Woolnough & du Toit 2001). It has been suggested that lower feeding heights of females could negatively impact their browse intake because (i.) lower elevation leaves are of lower nutritional quality (Woolnough & du Toit 2001) and (ii.) there is increased potential for resource overlap with other wild or domesticated browsers (Cameron & du Toit 2007).

However, most ruminants over 25kg exhibit some degree of sexual body-size dimorphism (Owen-Smith 1992). As such, giraffe feeding height differences may be just a reflection of a broader pattern seen in all sexually dimorphic ungulates, rather than the result of a giraffe-specific sex-based feeding strategy. Unraveling the causes of intraspecific variation in giraffe browsing behaviors can help advance behavioral and ecological foraging theory, as well as improve understanding of resource utilization in all species, all of which are also of relevance for giraffe conservation.

In contrast to feeding height preferences, female and male giraffe are more closely matched in their feeding plant choice (Appendix 2). Indeed their foraging seemed to

closely reflect (with the exception of *A. brevispica*) the plants species availability in the habitat (Table 4). Interestingly, giraffe in this study feed on a very limited number of species compared to other studies, where giraffe have been known to feed on 20 or 30+ species (Pellew 1984b, Parker & Bernard 2005). As with giraffe elsewhere, woody acacias were the preferred food type. It is unknown whether this dichotomy is due to the existence of a limited plant species palate at Mpala or to the limitations of this study.

Study Limitations

As a result of the study's short duration, there are some limitations on these results. For example findings are based only on observations of adult female camels and adult giraffe. The extent to which foraging habits of juvenile giraffe and camels, as well as adult male camels, may result in more or less overlap in foraging between the two species remains to be explored. The low-diversity diet we documented for giraffe could be attributed to this study's short timeframe and not recording giraffe foraging over all the seasons (Table 4, Appendix 2).

The camel research was conducted at a single boma location. Gathering data from different camel herds at several boma locations would allow for a better understanding of the effects husbandry techniques have on camel foraging, and thus provide a clearer picture on overlap with giraffe. Obtaining comparative habitat structure and relative plant density data from the areas foraged by giraffe and areas foraged by camels would further clarify differences in camel and giraffe foraging (Table 8).

Given the preliminary nature of this study, our results should be interpreted with caution. For logistical reasons there were several factors that could not be considered in this study. Several factors that may affect foraging ecology such as giraffe herd size, age and sex-ratios (Young & Isbell 1991), presence of other herbivore species, vigilance trade-offs, social dynamics, etc., could not be considered for logistical reasons in this study. Further long-term collection of data is needed to provide a more complete picture.

Conclusion

Is there overlap between camel and giraffe feeding heights and preferred plant food species?

Distinct variations occur in the nutritional values of plant species between season, between species and between different plant parts (Senft et al. 1987). To compensate for these variations, herbivores adapt their foraging behavior to achieve the daily nutrient and energy requirements needed for reproduction and maintenance (Pellew 1984a). Such adaptations include the choice of foraging habitat, the plant species and plant parts they feed on, and the time allocated to feeding (Johnson 1980, Pellew 1984a), all which combined form a herbivore's optimal foraging strategy. It can be argued - perhaps more so than for any other ungulates - that giraffe have more opportunity to optimize such decisions due to their large (>3m) vertical feeding arc (Table 1). Camels are offset vertically from giraffe, but they have a similarly sized 3m feeding arc (Table 2) allowing for similar opportunities for foraging optimization. Thus, these two species have a wide vertical choice when foraging, and these results show an absence of foraging height overlap with each other. More data are needed to determine whether these differences are the result of passive or active optimization. There is pressing need for further research, especially if pastoralist and ranching management trends continue to bring these two large, iconic, and fascinatingly complex ungulates together.

Are there differences between female and male giraffe foraging ecologies across habitat types?

Do giraffe exploit their competitive advantage by always eating the tallest and most common plant species in the landscape?

My results show that the relationships between habitat structure and male and female foraging ecologies are complex and nuanced. Habitat structure and plant heights evoke differing responses from males and females, even though they pursue very closely aligned plant food species preferences.

However, my results are in line with the general trend of earlier studies (du Toit 1990, Ciofolo & Le Pendu 2002) in suggesting that female giraffe feed at lower levels than males across all habitat types. Male giraffe also exhibit the strongest exploitation of their

competitive foraging height advantage with their consistently elevated feeding. Females did not exhibit this. The reason for these divergences has not been satisfactorily answered since difference in body size can provide only partial explanation. In some aspects of foraging, the sexes almost behave as if they are different herbivore species, with different optimal foraging strategies. Unraveling these differences is important to effectively understand giraffe ecology, resource utilization, and for developing reticulated giraffe conservation strategies.

LITERATURE CITED

- Altmann, J. 1974. Observational study of behavior: Sampling methods. Behaviour **49**: 227-267.
- Augustine, D. J., and S. J. McNaughton. 2004. Regulation of shrub dynamics by native browsing ungulates on East African rangeland. Journal of Applied Ecology 41:45– 58.
- Averbeck, C., A. Apio, M. Plath, T. Wronski. 2009. Environmental parameters and anthropogenic effects predicting the spatial distribution of wild ungulates in the Akagera savanna ecosystem. African Journal of Ecology. 47:756–766.
- Baars, R.M.T. 2000. Costs and returns of camels, cattle and small ruminants in pastoral herds in eastern Ethiopia. Tropical Animal Health and Production **32**: 113-126.
- Bates, B.C., Z.W. Kundzewicz, S. Wu, and J.P. Palutikof (Eds). 2008. Chapter 5 Analysing regional aspects of climate change and water resources. In: Climate Change and Water: Technical Paper of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. IPPC Secretariat, Geneva, 77-113.
- Bekele, T., M. Zeleke, and R.M.T. Baars. 2002. Milk production performance of the one humped camel (*Camelus dromedarius*) under pastoral management in semi-arid eastern Ethiopia. Livestock Production Science **76**: 37–44.
- Bercovitch, F.B., and P.S.M. Berry. 2013. Herd composition, kinship and fission-fusion social dynamics among wild giraffe. African Journal of Ecology **51**: 206–216.
- Bond, W. J., and D. Loffell. 2001. Introduction of giraffe changes acacia distribution in an South African savanna. African Journal of Ecology **39**: 286-294.
- Bøving, P.S., and E. Post. 1997. Vigilance and foraging behaviour of female caribou in relation to predation risk. Rangifer **7**: 55-63.
- Brown, D.M., R.A. Brenneman, K-P. Koepfli, J.P. Pollinger, B. Mila, N.J. Georgiadis, E.E. Louis Jr., G.F. Grether, D.K. Jacobs, and R.K. Wayne. 2007. Extensive population genetic structure in the giraffe. BMC Biology 5:57.
- Butt, B. 2010a. Pastoral resource access and utilization: quantifying the spatial and temporal relationships between livestock mobility, density and biomass availability in southern Kenya. Land Degradation & Development 21: 520–539.
- Butt, B. 2010b. Seasonal space-time dynamics of cattle behavior and mobility among Maasai pastoralists in semi-arid Kenya. Journal of Arid Environments **74**: 403-413.

- Butt, B., A. Shortridge, and A.M.G.A. WinklerPrins. 2009. Pastoral herd management, drought coping strategies, and cattle mobility in southern Kenya. Annals of the Association of American Geographers 99: 309 – 334.
- Cameron, E.Z., and J.T. du Toit. 2007. Winning by a neck: Tall giraffes avoid competing with shorter browsers. The American Naturalist **169**: 130-135.
- Ciofolo, I, and Y. Le Pendu. 2002. The feeding behaviour of giraffe in Niger. Mammalia **66**: 183-194.
- Cornelissen, J.H.C., S. Lavorel, E. Garnier, S. Diaz, N. Buchmann, D.E. Gurvich, P.B. Reich, H. ter Steege, H.D. Morgan, M.G.A. van der Heijden, J.G. Pausas, and H. Poorter. 2003. A handbook of protocols for standardized and easy measurement of plant functional traits worldwide. Australian Journal of Botany 51: 335-380.
- Davies, J. and R. Bennett. 2007. Livelihood adaptation to risk: Constraints and opportunities for pastoral development in Ethiopia's Afar region. Journal of Development Studies 43: 490–511.
- Dereje, M., and P. Uden. 2005. The browsing dromedary camel I. Behaviour, plant preference and quality of forage selected. Animal Feed Science and Technology 121: 297–308.
- Desta, S. and L. Coppock. 2000. Pastoral system trends and small ruminant production in the Borana Plateau of southern Ethiopia. In: Merkel, R.C., G. Abebe and A.L. Goetsch (eds.). The Opportunities and Challenges of Enhancing Goat Production in East Africa: Proceedings of a conference held at Debub University, Awassa, Ethiopia from November 10 to 12, 2000. E (Kika) de la Garza Institute for Goat Research, Langston University, Langston, OK.
- du Toit, J.T. 1990. Feeding-height stratification among African browsing ruminants. African Journal of Ecology. **28**:55-61.
- du Toit, J.T. 1995. Determinants of the composition and distribution of wildlife communities in southern Africa. Ambio **24**:2–6.
- du Toit, J.T., and D.H.M. Cumming. 1999. Functional significance of ungulate diversity in African savannas and the ecological implications of the spread of pastoralism. Biodiversity and Conservation 8: 1643–1661.
- El-Keblawya, A., T. Ksiksi, and H. El Alqamy. 2009. Camel grazing affects species diversity and community structure in the deserts of the UAE. Journal of Arid Environments **73**: 347–354.
- Ellis, J., and K.A. Galvin. 1994. Climate patterns and land-use practices in the dry zones of Africa. BioScience 44: 340-349.

- Ericksen, P., J. de Leeuw, P. Thornton, M. Said, M. Herrero, and A. Notenbaert. 2013. Climate change in Sub-Saharan Africa: what consequences for pastoralism? In: Catley, A., J. Lind, and I. Scoones (eds) Pastoralism and Development in Africa: Dynamic Change at the Margins. Routledge.
- Farah, K.O., D.M. Nyariki, R.K. Ngugi, I.M. Noor, and A.Y. Guliye. 2004. The Somali and the Camel: Ecology, management and economics. Anthropologist **6**: 45-55.
- Farid, M.F.A. 1995. Nutrient requirements of dromedary camels: protein and energy requirements for maintenance. Journal of Arid Environments **30**: 207-218.
- Gallacher, D.J., and J.P. Hill. 2005. Effects of camel vs oryx and gazelle grazing on the plant ecology of the Dubai Desert Conservation Reserve. Dubai Desert Conservation Reserve Research Reports, 13pp. <u>http://www.ddcr.org/en/downloads/full/grazing-ecology.html</u>
- Gallacher, D.J., and J.P. Hill. 2006. Effects of camel grazing on the ecology of small perennial plants in the Dubai (UAE) inland desert. Journal of Arid Environments **66**: 738–750.
- Galvin, K.A. 1992. Nutritional ecology of pastoralists in dry tropical Africa. American Journal of Human Biology **4**:209-221.
- Galvin, K.A., D.L. Coppock, and P.W. Leslie. 1994. Diet, nutrition and the pastoral strategy. In: Fratkin, E., K.A. Galvin, and E.A. Roth (eds.). African Pastoralist Systems: An Integrated Approach. Lynne Rienner.
- GCF. 2013. Giraffe The Facts. The Giraffe Conservation Foundation. http://www.giraffeconservation.org/giraffe_facts.php?pgid=6
- Ginnet, T.F., and M.W. Demment. 1997. Sex differences in giraffe foraging behavior at two spatial scales. Oecologia **110**: 291-300.
- Goheen, J.R., T.M. Palmer, G.K. Charles, K.M. Helgen, S.N. Kinyua, J.E. Maclean, B.L. Turner, H.S. Young, and R.M. Pringle. 2013. Piecewise disassembly of a largeherbivore community across a rainfall gradient: The UHURU experiment. PLoS ONE 8.
- Grosenbaugh, L.R. 1952. Plotless timber estimates-new, fast, easy. Journal of Forestry 50: 32–37.
- Hamel, S., and S.D. Cote. 2008. Trade-offs in activity budget in an alpine ungulate: contrasting lactating and nonlactating females. Animal Behaviour 75: 217-227.

Homewood, K. 2008. Ecology of African pastoralist societies. Oxford: James Currey.

- Johnson, D.H. 1980. The comparison of usage and availability measurements for evaluating resource preference. Ecology **61**: 65-71.
- Kiage, L.M. 2013. Perspectives on the assumed causes of land degradation in the rangelands of Sub-Saharan Africa. Progress in Physical. Geography **37**: 664–684.
- Kinnaird, M.F., and T.G. O'Brien. 2012. Effects of private-land use, livestock management, and human tolerance on diversity, distribution, and abundance of large African mammals. Conservation Biology 26: 1026–1039.
- Kjekshus, H. 1996. Ecology control & economic development in East African history: the case of Tanganyika, 1850-1950. London: James Currey.
- Little, P., J. McPeak, C. Barrett, and P. Kristjanson. 2008. Challenging orthodoxies: understanding poverty in pastoralist areas of East Africa. Development and Change 39: 587-611.
- Maloiy, G.M.O., B. M. Rugangazi, and M. F. Rowe. 2009. Energy expenditure during level locomotion in large desert ungulates: the one-humped camel and the domestic donkey. Journal of Zoology 277: 248–255.
- McNaughton, S.J., and N. J. Georgiadis. 1986. Ecology of African grazing and browsing mammals. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics. 17:39-65.
- McSweeney, C., M. New, and G. Lizcano. 2008. UNDP Climate Change Country Profiles: Kenya. United Nations Development Programme. <u>http://ncsp.undp.org/document/undp-climate-change-country-profile-kenya</u>
- Megersa, B., A. Regassa, B. Kumsa, and F. Abunna. 2008. Performance of camels (*Camelus dromedrius*) kept by pastoralists with different degrees of experience in camel keeping in Borana, southern Ethiopia. Animal Science Journal **79**: 534–541.
- Mitchell, K. 2010. Quantitative analysis by the point-centered quarter method. ArXiv:1010.3303.
- Odadi W.O., T.P. Young, and J.B. Okeyo-Owuor. 2007. Effects of wildlife on cattle diets in Laikipia rangeland, Kenya. Rangeland Ecology & Management **60**: 179-185.
- Odadi W.O., M. Karachi, S. Abdulrazak, and T.P. Young. 2011. African wild ungulates compete with or facilitate cattle depending on season. Science **333**:1753–1755
- Owen-Smith, R.N. 1992. Megaherbivores: The influence of very large body size on ecology. Cambridge University Press.

- Owen-Smith, N., and D.H.M. Cumming. 1993. Comparative foraging strategies of grazing ungulates in African savanna grasslands. In: Proceedings of the XVII International Grasslands Congress, 8–21 February 1993, Palmerston North, New Zealand. New Zealand Grassland Association, pp 691–698.
- Parker, D.M., and R.T.F. Bernard. 2005. The diet and ecological role of giraffe (Giraffa camelopardalis) introduced to the eastern Cape, South Africa. Journal of Zoology. 267: 203-2010.
- Pellew, R.A. 1983. The giraffe and its food resource in the Serengeti. I. Composition, biomass and production of available browse. African Journal of Ecology **21**: 241-267.
- Pellew, R.A. 1984a. The feeding ecology of a selective browser, the giraffe (*Giraffa camelopardalis tippelskirchi*). Journal of Zoology **202**: 57-81.
- Pellew, R.A. 1984b. Food consumption and energy budgets of the giraffe. Journal of Applied Ecology **21**: 141-159.
- Prins H.H.T. 1992. The pastoral road to extinction: Competition between wildlife and traditional pastoralism in East Africa. Environmental Conservation **19**:117–123
- Prins H.H.T., and H. Fritz. 2008. Species diversity of browsing and grazing ungulates: Consequences for the structure and abundance of secondary production. In: Gordon, I.J., and H.H.T. Prins (eds) The Ecology of Browsing and Grazing. Ecological Studies **195**. Springer, pp. 179-200.
- Pringle, R.M., D.F Doak, A.K. Brody, R. Jocque, and T.M. Palmer. 2010. Spatial pattern enhances ecosystem functioning in an African savanna. Plos Biology 8.
- Pringle, R.M., T.M. Palmer, J.R. Goheen, D.J. McCauley, and F. Keesing. 2011. Ecological importance of large herbivores in the Ewaso ecosystem. Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology (Conserving Wildlife in African Landscapes: Kenya's Ewaso Ecosystem, N. Georgiadis, ed.) 632: 43-54.
- Retzer, V., 2006. Impacts of grazing and rainfall variability on the dynamics of a Sahelian rangeland revisited (Hein, 2006): new insights from old data. Journal of Arid Environments 67: 157–164.
- Seeber, P.A., I. Ciofolo, and A. Ganswindt. 2012. Behavioural inventory of the giraffe (*Giraffa camelopardalis*). BMC Research Notes 2012 **5**: 650.
- Senft, R.L., M.B. Coughenour, D.W. Bailey, L.R. Rittenhouse, O.E. Sala, and D.M. Swift, 1987. Large herbivore foraging and ecological hierarchies: Landscape ecology can enhance traditional foraging theory. Biological Science 37: 789-799.

- Shorrocks, B., and D.P. Croft. 2009. Necks and networks: a preliminary study of population structure in the reticulated giraffe (*Giraffa camelopardalis reticulata* de Winston). African Journal of Ecology 47: 374–381.
- Sinclair, A.R.E. 1979. Dynamics of the Serengeti ecosystem: process and pattern. In: Sinclair, A.R.E., and M. Norton-Griffiths (eds) Serengeti: dynamics of an ecosystem. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill., pp 1–30

Sundaresan, S.R., I.R. Fischhoff, H.M. Hartung, P. Akilong, and D.I. Rubenstein. 2008. Habitat choice of Grevy's zebras (*Equus grevyi*) in Laikipia, Kenya. African Journal of Ecology 46: 359–364.

- Thornton, P.K., R.L. Kruska, N. Henninger, P.M. Kristjanson, R.S. Reid, F. Atieno, A. Odero and Ndegwa. 2002. Mapping poverty and livestock in the developing world. International Livestock Research Institute, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Treydtea , A.C., J.G.M. van der Beekb, A.A. Perdokb, and S.E. van Wierenb. 2011. Grazing ungulates select for grasses growing beneath trees in African savannas. Mammalian Biology 76: 345–350.
- Tutchings, A., S. Fennessy, A. Marais, and J. Fennessy. 2013. Africa's Giraffa camelopardalis: A conservation guide. Giraffe Conservation Foundation / Black Eagle Media. <u>http://www.giraffeconservation.org/download_booklet.php?id=1</u>
- Voeten MM, Prins HHT (1999) Resource partitioning between sympatric wild and domestic herbivores in the Tarangire region of Tanzania. Oecologia **120**:287–294
- Woolnough, A.P., and J.T. du Toit. 2001. Vertical zonation of browse quality in tree canopies exposed to a size-structured guild of African browsing ungulates. Oecologia129: 585-590.
- Young, T.P., and L.A. Isbell. 1991. Sex differences in giraffe feeding ecology: Energetic and social constraints. Ethology 87: 79-89.
- Young, T. P., and B. Okello. 1998. Relaxation of an induced defense after exclusion of herbivores: spines on *Acacia drepanolobium*. Oecologia **115**: 508-513.
- Young, T. P., B. Okello, D. Kinyua, and T. Palmer. 1998. KLEE: A long-term multispecies herbivore exclusion experiment in Laikipia, Kenya. African Journal of Range and Forage Science 14: 92–104.
- Young, H.S., D.J. McCauley, K.H. Helgen, J.R. Goheen, E. Otárola-Castillo, T. Palmer, R.M. Pringle, T.P. Young, and R. Dirzo. 2013. Effects of mammalian herbivore declines on plant communities: observations and experiments in an African savanna. Journal of Ecology **101**: 1030–1041.



Projection: USGS 1984 UTM 37N Source: The Mpala Research Centre, Nanyuki Kenya (boundary), Bing Maps Aerial (2010)

Figure 1: Map of study area, showing soil habitat types, reticulated giraffe encounters and domestic camel browsing orbits.



Mpala Reserve Giraffe by Soil Type

Projection: USGS 1984 UTM 37N Source: The Mpala Research Centre, Nanyuki Kenya (Boundary), Bing Maps Aerial





Figure 3: Left - Map showing six driving survey zones (adjusted from *Grevy's Zebra Project*). **Right** - Google Earth map showing GPS tracks of a portion of routes driven to survey giraffe (some areas were impassable/inaccessible due to the terrain or rains)



Mpala Reserve Giraffe Group Size

Projection: USGS 1984 UTM 37N Source: The Mpala Research Centre, Nanyuki Kenya (Boundary), ESRI World Imagery

Figure 4: Map showing locations of giraffe encounters and group size



GPS Waypoint originally taken in car

Figure 5: Photo illustration of how the car-based GPS waypoints of giraffe encounters were moved using field metadata and ArcGIS trigonometry to represent the real location of the giraffe in space.



Figure 6: Flow chart detailing the method and data recorded during giraffe behavioral observations.



Figure 7: Photo illustration showing the reticulated giraffe pooled feeding height categories and neck angles (*Giraffe in photo illustration is based on an image of an adult female reticulated giraffe*)







Figure 9: Photos showing the Garmin Forerunner 301 GPS unit used to measure camel browsing orbits (top right), in it's early iteration (left) and the protective canvas pouch used later (bottom right)



Plant Transect Locations

Projection: USGS 1984 UTM 37N Source: The Mpala Research Centre, Nanyuki Kenya (Boundary),

Figure 10: Map showing the location of 33 plant transect lines, giraffe encounters and soil/habitat types





Figure 11: Composite average individual giraffe feeding heights across three habitat types. Male average feeding heights are significantly higher than female (ANOVA - Black Cotton: $F_{1,51} = 48.0$; Red Soil: $F_{1,199} = 135.3$; Transition Soil: $F_{1,81} = 102.1$, all p<0.001).







Soil Type & Giraffe Sex

Figure 13: Giraffe feeding heights on *A. mellifera* across three habitat types. plant food species.

Males fed significantly higher than A. *mellifera*'s median height in all habitats (Mann-Whitney U test: Black Cotton: U = 10; Red Soil: U = 13837; Transition Soil: U = 8807, all p<0.001).

Females fed significantly higher than the height of the plants in red soils (U = 16593, p<0.001), and significantly below in transition soils (U = 46101.5, p<0.01). There was no difference in the black cotton soil (p=0.09).



Figure 14: Average group giraffe feeding height versus average shrub height from the corresponding transect. Average shrub height was significantly correlated with average giraffe feeding height ($r^2=0.3516$, p<0.001).

Domestic Camel Browsing Orbits - Detail



Projection: USGS 1984 UTM 37N

Source: The Mpala Research Centre, Nanyuki Kenya (soil type), Bing Maps Aerial (2010)

Figure 15: Map showing the GPS tracks of both the camel collars and the human observer measuring the camel browsing orbits



Figure 17: Composite average individual camel and male and female giraffe feeding heights. Camels fed lower than both male (U = 34.5, p<0.001) and female giraffe (U = 2504, p<0.001)

Giraffe Feeding	Mature Male +/-SE	Mature Female +/-SE	Pooled +/-SE (n)
Height Category	(n)	(n)	
Feeding High	4.8m +/-0.11 (15)	4.1m +/-0.03 (15)	4.4m +/-0.09 (30)
Feeding Medium	3.6m +/-0.08 (15)	3.0m +/-0.09 (16)	3.3m +/-0.08 (31)
Feeding Level	2.7m +/-0.10 (16)	2.1m +/-0.05 (18)	2.4m +/-0.07 (34)
Feeding Below	1.7m +/-0.09 (17)	1.1m +/-0.06 (12)	1.4m +/-0.08 (29)

 Table 1: Giraffe feeding height categories and measurements

Table 2: Camel feeding height categories and measurements

Camel Feeding Height Category	Mature Female +/-SE (n=15)
Feeding High	3.0m +/-0.07
Feeding Level	1.5m +/-0.05
Feeding Below	0.7m +/-0.03
Feeding Ground	0m

Table 3: Average adult male and female feeding	heights and average vegetation height in
each habitat	

Category	Black Cotton (m)	Red Soil (m)	Transition Soil (m)
Average Male giraffe feed	4.2 +/- 0.09	3.8 +/- 0.07	2.8 +/- 0.08
height (+/- SE)	(n=25)	(n=101)	(n=28)
Average Female giraffe feed	3.0 +/- 0.15	2.7 +/- 0.06	1.9 +/- 0.04
height (+/- SE)	(n=40)	(n=100)	(n=55)
Average vegetation height (+/-	2.7 +/- 0.07	2.7 +/- 0.05	2.0 +/- 0.06
SE)	(n=264)	(n=660)	(n=308)
Median vegetation height	2.6	2.4	1.7

Table 4: (A.) Adult giraffe mean feeding heights* per plant species. (B.) Mean plant species heights from all of Mpala (transect n = 33)

	В.				
Adult Giraffe Plant	Female Mean	Male Mean	Pooled Mean	Mean Plant Height +/-SE	n
Food Species	+/-SE (n)	+/-SE (n)	+/-SE (n)	(m)	
A. brevispica	1.86 +/-0.17 m	2.75 +/-0.27 m	2.26 +/-0.16 m	1.89 +/-0.04	255
	(26)	(21)	(47)		
A. drepanolobium	1.82 +/-0.04 m	3.63 +/-0.08 m	2.40 +/-0.05 m	2.46 +/-0.07	321
	(485)	(229)	(714)		
A. etbaica	2.67 +/-0.07 m	3.52 +/-0.08 m	3.05 +/-0.06 m	3.33 +/-0.10	174
	(182)	(148)	(330)		
A. mellifera	2.29 +/-0.03 m	3.23 +/-0.05 m	2.60 +/-0.03 m	2.80 +/-0.06	367
	(712)	(355)	(1067)		
A. nilotica	NA	2.03 +/-0.33 m	2.03 +/-0.33 m	2.30 +/-0.16	17
		(3)	(3)		
Balanites glabra	NA	3.16 +/-0.38 m	3.16 +/-0.38 m	3.53 +/-0.35	17
		(8)	(8)		
Boscia albitrunca	3.84 +/-0.06 m	4.67 +/-0.07 m	4.0 +/-0.06 m	4.05 +/-0.23	24
	(107)	(27)	(134)		
Croton	1.1 +/-0.00 m	NA	1.1 +/-0.00 m	1.73 +/-0.05	146
dichogamous	(1)		(1)		

* Feed height data are the actual observations, not aggregates to individual giraffe, and thus may not be independent.

Soil Type	<i>A. drepanolobium</i> (n=255)		A. etbaica (n=174)		A. mellifera (n=367)		<i>B. albitrunca</i> (n=24)	
	Plant height +/-SE (m)	Plants per ha						
Black Cotton	2.8 +/- 0.07	912	NA	0	2.2 +/- 0.37	45	NA	0
Red Soil	NA	0	3.5 +/- 0.11	118	3.0 +/- 0.08	163	4.1 +/- 0.24	17
Transition Soil	1.4 +/- 0.04	809	2.6 +/- 0.26	5	2.6 +/- 0.10	44	3.0 +/- 0.46	2

Table 5: Mean height (m) and mean absolute density of the four plant species most frequently fed on by giraffe

Table 6: Summary of individual camel GPS collar and observer walk GPS data

Date	Browsing Orbit	Browsing Orbit	Observer	Camel GPS
(year = 2011)	Time	Distance (km)	Walking	edited
	(hr:mm)		Distance (km)	
June 21^	NA	NA	4.71	NA
July 7^	NA	NA	5.36	NA
July 8	7:33	7.88	8.40	No
July 9	6:55	6.31		Yes
July 11	6:52	4.92		Yes
July 13^	NA	NA	6.81	Yes
July 14	8:52	5.61		Yes
July 15	7:26	5.67		Yes
July 16`	5:31	5.44	7.06	Yes
Aug 3`	9:55	3.74		Yes
Aug 5	7:12	5.14		Yes
Aug 6`	0:56	0.25		NA
Aug 7	8:08	6.54		Yes
Aug 11	7:40	6.05		Yes
Aug 12	7:09	5.77		Yes

[^] GPS collar malfunction, and observer GPS data used as a proxy for camel herd movements
 [^] Data from these dates were discarded from analysis due either to only partial browsing orbit recording or GPS malfunction.

А.						D.	
Camel Plant Food Species	Mean Feeding Height (m)	Median Feeding Height (m)	SE Feeding Height (m)	n		Mean Plant Height+/-SE (m)	n
A. brevispica	1.26	0.7	0.01	2337		1.89 +/-0.04	255
A. etbaica	1.79	1.5	0.08	111		3.33 +/-0.10	174
A. mellifera	1.67	1.5	0.05	283		2.80 +/-0.06	367
A. nilotica	1.40	1.5	0.09	46		2.30 +/-0.16	17
Acacia spp.	1.54	1.5	0.12	40		NA	NA
Indeterminate [^]	1.30	0.7	0.02	1324		NA	NA
C. dichogamous	1.13	0.7	0.06	85		1.73 +/-0.05	146
Euclea spp.	1.45	1.5	0.05	267		NA	NA
B. albitrunca	2.13	3.0	0.06	215		4.05 +/-0.23	24

Table 7: (A.) Adult female camel mean, median and standard deviation of plant species feeding heights^{*}. (B.) Mean plant species heights from all of Mpala (transect n = 33)

* Feed height data are the actual observations, not aggregates to individual giraffe, and thus may not be independent. ^Indeterminate: species indeterminate, most likely either *Croton dichogamous* or *Euclea* spp. Table 8: Mean height (m) and mean absolute density (plants/hectare) of the plant species most frequently fed upon by camels (A.) in the area in which camels foraged (transect n = 5) compared to (B.) all of Mpala (transect n = 33).

	Α.		_	E	3.
Plant species (camel forage area sample size)	Camel Food Plant Height +/-se (m)	Plants per ha		Mpala- wide plant height+/-SE (m)	Mpala-wide Plants per ha
<i>A brevispica</i> (n = 72)	2.0 +/-0.07	472		1.89 +/-0.04	305
<i>A. etbaica</i> (n = 16)	3.3 +/-0.41	30		3.33 +/-0.10	78
<i>A. mellifera</i> (n = 14)	2.7 +/-0.31	44		2.80 +/-0.06	108
<i>B. albitrunca</i> (n = 4)	3.5 +/-0.39	33		4.05 +/-0.23	20

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Methods and Statistical Test Summary

Research Question	Behavioral Obs.: Giraffe feed height	Behavioral Obs.: Camel feed height	Point-centered quarter vegetation transects	GIS
1: Is there overlap between camel and giraffe feeding heights and preferred plant food species?	~	~	~	~
2 : Are there differences between adult female and adult male giraffe foraging ecologies across habitat types?	~	×	~	~
3: Do giraffe exploit their presumed competitive advantage by always eating the tallest and most common plant species in the landscape?	~	×	~	~

Methods used to collect data for each research question

Statistical tests used to analyze data for each research question

Research Question	Mann- Whitney U	Multiway ANOVA	Tukey's HSD	Linear Regression	Kruskal- Wallis
1: Is there overlap between camel and giraffe feeding heights and preferred plant food species?	>	×	×	~	×
2: Are there differences between adult female and adult male giraffe foraging ecologies across habitat types?	~	~	~	×	~
3: Do giraffe exploit their presumed competitive advantage by always eating the tallest and most common plant species in the landscape?	~	×	×	~	×

Appendix 2 – Giraffe Activity and Foraging Data

Activity Summary

7680 entries					
[Adult Female 56.85%(4366), Male Adult 43.15% (3314)]					
Activity	Records	Percentage			
Feeding	3617	47.10%			
Stand	2157	28.09%			
Walk	1476	19.22%			
Lay	239	3.11%			
Aggression (males only)	178	2.32%			
Head to Ground	12	0.16%			
Suckle	1	0.01%			

POOLED ADULT GIRAFFE FEEDING HEIGHTS

3617 feeding observations for adults only.

Female n = 2194 (60.66%) Male n = 1423 (39.34%)

Male $n = 1423 (39.34\%)$					
Feeding Level	Records	Percentage			
Feed High (4.4m)	801	22.15%			
Feed Medium (3.3m)	871	24.08%			
Feed Level (2.4m)	1139	31.49%			
Feed Below (1.4m)	806	22.28%			
Total	3617				

Feeding	Female	Male
Level	Records	Records
Feed High	16.3% (358)	31.1% (443)
Feed Medium	20.9% (458)	29.0% (413)
Feed Level	35.1% (771)	25.9% (368)
Feed Below	27.7% (607)	14.0% (199)
n	2194	1423

POOLED GIRAFFE FOOD SPECIES & FEEDING HEIGHTS

(Inc. sub adult observations)						
Plant Species		Feed	d Height		Total (n)	Total %*
	Feed	Feed	Feed	Feed		
	High	Medium	Level	Below		
A. brevispica	6	8	18	26	58	2%
Α.	177	117	197	318	809	33%
drepanolobium						
A. etbaica	86	105	105	45	341	14%
A. mellifera	88	392	414	198	1092	44%
A. nilotica	0	0	1	2	3	0.1%
B. albitunca	128	16	5	2	151	6%
B. glabra	1	4	1	2	8	0.3%
C. dichogamous	0	0	2	1	3	0.1%
Total	486	642	743	594	2465	

*Totals may not equal 100% due to rounding

Plant Species	Feed Height				Total (n)	Total %*
•	Feed High (4.1m)	Feed Medium (3.0m)	Feed Level (2.1m)	Feed Below (1.1m)		
A brevispica	2	1	12	11	26	2%
Α.	48	33	144	260	485	32%
drepanolobium						
A etbaica	44	47	64	27	182	12%
A mellifera	37	236	287	152	712	47%
A nilotica	0	0	0	0	0	0
B albitunca	89	11	5	2	107	7%
B glabra	0	0	0	0	0	0
С	0	0	0	1	1	0.1%
dichogamous						
Total	220	328	512	453	1513	

FEMALE ADULT GIRAFFE FEED HEIGHTS & SPECIES

*Totals may not equal 100% due to rounding

Dlant		Each Haight Total (m) Total 0/*				
Plant	геей пенулі			Total (n)	10tal %	
Species						
_	Feed High	Feed	Feed	Feed		
	(4.8m)	Medium	Level (2.7)	Below		
	× ,	(3.6m)	, , ,	(1.7m)		
A. brevispica	4	3	4	10	21	3%
Α.	100	53	31	45	229	29%
drepanolobium						
A. etbaica	41	57	34	16	148	19%
A. mellifera	50	142	120	43	355	45%
A. nilotica	0	0	1	2	3	0.4%
B. albitunca	24	3	0	0	27	3%
B. glabra	1	4	1	2	8	1%
С.	0	0	0	0	0	0
dichogamous						
Total	220	262	191	118	791	

MALE ADULT GIRAFFE FEED HEIGHTS & SPECIES

*Totals may not equal 100% due to rounding

Appendix 3 – Numbers of tracked and composite giraffe

Total numbers of adult giraffe with feeding height observations from 65 encounters, and breakdown of the numbers of tracked and composite giraffe

Sex	Black Cotton (n)	Red Soil (n)	Transition Soil (n)	Total (n)
Female	28	100	55	183
Male	25	101	28	154
Total	53	201	83	337
Averaging Type				
Tracked Giraffe	13	132	28	173
	2 female, 11 male	62 female, 70 male	17 female, 11 male	81 female, 92 male
Composite	40	69	55	164
Giraffe	26 female, 14 male	38 female, 31 male	38 female, 17 male	102 female, 62 male
Total	53	201	83	337

Appendix 4 – Camel Activity and Foraging Data

Camel Activity Summary

Number of Observations: 10,324 (Adult Females Only)

Activity	Records	Percentage
Feeding	7340	71.1%
Lay	21	0.2%
Stand	774	7.5%
Walk	2189	21.2%
Total	10,324	

Camel Feeding Heights

Including the "feeding ground' (Adult Females Only) Number of Observations: 7340

Feeding Level	Records	Percentage
Feed High	1022	13.92%
Feed Level	2377	32.38%
Feed Below	2863	39.01%
Feed Ground	1078	14.69%

Camel Basic Plant Food Analysis (Adult Females Only) 4708 entries of plant food species

Camel Plant Food Species	Records	Percent
A. brevispica	2337	49.64%
A. drepanolobium		
A. etbaica	111	2.36%
A. mellifera	283	6.01%
A. nilotica	46	0.98%
Acacia spp.	40	0.85%
Balanites glabra		
Boscia albitrunca	215	4.57%
C. dichogamous	85	1.81%
Indeterminate*	1324	28.12%
<i>Euclea</i> spp.	215	5.67%
Total		

*species undecipherable, most likely either *C. dichogamous* or *Euclea* spp.

Feeding Heights & Plant Species

Camel Plant Food Species	Feed Below	Feed High	Feed Level
	(0.7m)	(3.0m)	(1.5m)
A. brevispica	1241	288	808
A. etbaica	21	33	57
A. mellifera	64	67	152
A. nilotica	13	4	29
Acacia spp.	11	7	22
Indeterminate	669	185	470
C. dichogamous	47	4	34
Euclea spp.	125	57	85
Boscia albitrunca	40	111	64
Total			

Feeding Heights & Plant Species % of Total

Camel Plant Food	Feed Below	Feed High	Feed Level	Total
Species	(0.7m)	(2.62m)	(1.5m)	
A. brevispica	26.4%	6.1%	17.2%	49.6%
A. etbaica	0.4%	0.7%	1.2%	2.4%
A. mellifera	1.4%	1.4%	3.2%	6.0%
A. nilotica	0.3%	0.1%	0.6%	1.0%
Acacia spp.	0.2%	0.1%	0.5%	0.8%
Indeterminate	14.2%	3.9%	10.0%	28.1%
C. dichogamous	1.0%	0.1%	0.7%	1.8%
Euclea spp.	2.7%	1.2%	1.8%	5.7%
Boscia albitrunca	0.8%	2.4%	1.4%	4.6%
Total	47.4%	16.1%	36.6%	100%

Appendix 5 – Plant Transect Height Summaries

General Observations

Total number of plants measured for height on PQ transects: 1452 15 plant species

Plant Food Species	Records	Percent
A. brevispica	255	17.56%
A. drepanolobium	321	22.11%
A. etbaica	174	11.98%
A. mellifera	367	25.28%
A. nilotica	17	1.17%
A. tortilis	11	0.76%
Balanites glabra	17	1.17%
Boscia albitrunca	24	1.65%
Carissa edulis	19	1.31%
Croton dichogamous	146	10.06%
<i>Euclea</i> spp.	31	2.13%
Hibiscus flavifolious	2	0.14%
Lycium shawii (Lycium spp.)	18	1.24%
Rhus natalensis	4	0.28%
Sido oventor (?) Sida spp.	46	3.17%
Total	1452	

Plant species Mean, Median & SD height (m)

Plant Food Species	n	Mean Height	Median Height	SD Height (m)
		(m)	(m)	
A. brevispica	255	1.89	1.77	0.61
A. drepanolobium	321	2.46	2.09	1.19
A. etbaica	174	3.33	3.28	1.33
A. mellifera	367	2.80	2.68	1.17
A. nilotica	17	2.30	2.40	0.65
A. tortilis	11	2.51	2.55	1.12
Balanites glabra	17	3.53	3.20	1.43
Boscia albitrunca	24	4.05	4.04	1.14
Carissa edulis	19	1.94	1.84	0.84
Croton dichogamous	146	1.73	1.57	0.59
Euclea spp.	31	2.01	1.71	0.97
Hibiscus flavifolious	2	1.55	1.55	0.66
Lycium shawii (Lycium	18	1.46	1.29	0.46
spp.)				
Rhus natalensis	4	1.72	1.63	0.76
Sido oventor (?) Sida	46	1.50	1.40	0.42
spp.				
Total				